Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Restoration Project Final Report

Construction of a Linkage Map for the Pink Salmon Genome

Restoration Project 030190 Final Report

This report was prepared as part of the Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council Restoration Program. It has not been reviewed by independent, non-affiliated professional peers. Therefore, the analyses and conclusions presented in this report are solely those of the individual authors. The findings do not necessarily reflect the views of the *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council.

> Fred W. Allendorf Kathy L. Knudsen Kate R. Linder Paul Spruell Joe A. Tyburczy

Division of Biological Sciences University of Montana Missoula, MT 59812

for:

Alaska Department of Fish and Game Habitat and Restoration Division 333 Raspberry Road Anchorage, Alaska 99518

October 2006

The *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Trustee Council administers all programs and activities free from discrimination based on race, color, national origin, age, sex, religion, marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, or disability. The Council administers all programs and activities in compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Action of 1990, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. If you believe you have been discriminated against in any program, activity, or facility, or if you desire further information, please write to: EVOS Trustee Council, 441 West 5th Avenue, Suite 500, Anchorage, Alaska 99501-2340; or O.E.O. U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, D.C. 20240.

Construction of a Linkage Map for the Pink Salmon Genome

Restoration Project 030190 Final Report

Study History: Project 030190 was initiated in March 1996 to construct a genetic linkage map for pink salmon (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) and to use this map to evaluate effects of natural selection on the genome of this species. Such a map was proposed initially to provide the necessary platform to identify genetic damage in pink salmon inhabiting oiled streams following the March 1989 Exxon Valdez oil spill (EVOS). This research was designed to aid recovery efforts with pink salmon, including estimation of straying rates, description of stock structure, and testing if marine survival and other organismal measures of phenotypic variation have a genetic basis. This work was designed to support work with pink salmon under the project Oil-Related Embryo Mortalities (Restoration Study \191A). The objective of that project was to identify germline mutations in pink salmon exposed to oil. Genetic damage induced by oil may either be small changes in nucleotide sequence (microlesions) or large-scale changes in chromosome structure (macrolesions). Annual reports were submitted in 1997 through 2002. One thesis has been published: Pilgrim 1999). Four journal articles were published: Spruell et al. (1999), Lindner et al. (2000), Steinberg et al. (2002), and Funk et al. (2005).

Abstract: We have constructed a genetic linkage map for pink salmon (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) and have experimentally investigated marine survival and fitness of pink salmon in Prince William Sound. We analyzed segregation of 596 DNA fragments in odd-year pink salmon. Of these markers, 553 were assigned to one of 44 linkage groups. We estimated gene-centromere distances for 312 loci using gynogenetic diploid progeny. In August 1998, we collected gametes and tissue from 150 pink salmon from Likes Creek and used single-pair mating to produce 75 families. In May 1999, approximately 48,000 individuals were marked and released into Resurrection Bay from the Alaska SeaLife Center. In August 1999, we collected 68 adult pink salmon from Likes Creek and produced 68 families. These families were raised at the Alaska SeaLife Center and approximately 24,000 fry were marked and released into Resurrection Bay in May 2000. Only 36 returning adults from the 1998 experimental cohort were collected in August 2000. In August 2001, 259 returning adults from the 1999 cohort were collected. We assigned the adult returns to family using genotype data from 10 loci. We found nearly random family survival and high heritability of body length. Morphological traits were all moderately to highly heritable, but egg number and egg weight were not heritable. suggesting that past selection has eliminated additive genetic variation in egg number and egg weight or that there is high environmental variance in these traits. Genetic correlations were similar for nonadjacent morphological traits and adjacent traits. Genetic correlations predicted phenotypic correlations fairly accurately, but some pairs of traits with low genetic correlations had high phenotypic correlations, and vice versa, emphasizing the need to use caution when using phenotypic correlations as indices of genetic correlations.

2

Key Words: adaptation, fitness, gene-centromere mapping, genetics, linkage map, marine survival, mutation, *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*, pink salmon.

Project Data: Description of data -- We have two primary sets of data: one for the linkage map and one for the marine survival and fitness experiment. Data for the linkage map are the inheritance of DNA fragments in the haploid and gynogenetic diploid progeny of two pink salmon females (A95-103 and V96-13). Sixteen additional diploid families were tested for nonrandom segregation between all pair-wise combinations of 14 allozyme and three microsatellite loci. The haploid data set consists of 596 polymorphic DNA fragments loci in female A95-103 and 94 of her haploid progeny, and 123 polymorphic DNA fragments in female V96-13 and 90 of her haploid progeny. The diploid data set consists of genotypes of 70 gynogenetic diploid progeny from female A95-103 at 319 loci and of genotypes of 54 gynogenetic diploid progeny from female V96-13 at 40 loci. Data for the marine survival and fitness experiment are genotypes at ten PCR-based loci for 50 families (50 parent pairs with 10 embryos each) from the 1998 experimental release. An additional 36-40 embryos from seven of the 1998 families were analyzed at nine microsatellite loci to investigate mutation rates and patterns. The parents for the experimental cohort produced in 1998 were genotyped at 12 additional PCR-based loci and 34 allozyme loci. The 1999 parents were genotyped at 10 PCRbased loci and 30 allozyme loci. Their progeny, the 259 returning adult fish recovered in August 2001, were genotyped at the same 10 PCR-based loci and this information has been used to assign them to parental family. Four meristic characters, as well as body length, egg mass, and egg number were recorded for both sets of parents as well as the 36 marked adults collected in August 2000. The 259 marked adults collected in August 2001 were measured for body length, egg mass, and egg number. Format -- All data were entered as Excel spreadsheets. Custodian -- Contact Fred W. Allendorf, Division of Biological Sciences, University of Montana, Missoula, MT 59812.

Citation:

Allendorf, F.W., K. L. Knudsen, K. R. Linder, P. Spruell, and J.A. Tyburczy. 2006. Construction of a linkage map for the pink salmon genome. *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Restoration Project Final Report (Restoration Project 030190), Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Habitat and Restoration Division, Anchorage, Alaska.

3

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	5
LIST OF FIGURES	6
LIST OF APPENDICES	7
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	8
INTRODUCTION	12
OBJECTIVES	13
METHODS	13
RESULTS	15
DISCUSSION	19
CONCLUSIONS	22
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	23
LITERATURE CITED	23
OTHER REFERENCES	30

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	A breakdown of linkage groups based on number of markers in each group and the average size in cM.	31
2	Summary of polymorphic loci detected by four different techniques.	32
3	Summary of linkages in normal diploid families between allozymes and microsatellites.	33
4	Comparison of interference estimates based on half-tetrad and haploid data from nine linkage groups. The number in parenthesis corresponds to the relative amount of interference for each method. The half-tetrad interference estimates are grouped into no(0), low (1-3), moderate (4-6), high (7-9) or in some cases complete interference. The haploid data range is grouped into no (0), low (0.01-0.33), moderate (0.34-0.66), high (0.67-0.99), and complete (1.0) interference.	34
5	Summary of adult progeny recovered from each family and parent, the	35

Summary of adult progeny recovered from each family and parent, the 35 number of alevins from each parent pooled prior to freshwater rearing, and the percentage of alevins from each parent recovered as adults.

5

LIST OF FIGURES

Genetic linkage of pink salmon based on the inheritance of 602 loci. Numbers to the left indicate recombination rates (cM). Locus names to the right. Centromeres are indicated by black rectangles. Figure 3. Comparison of gene-centromere distances (y) for odd and even year pink salmon. The line indicates the expectation if y values are equivalent in both years. Diagram of our half-sib family experimental design. Numbers across the top represent females, numbers down the side represent males. The squares contain the family designation and the numbers of individuals used to make each family. The number of the dam is the family number in each half-sibling cross. The letter

Figure

4

5

the dam is the family number in each half-sibling cross. The letter A or B for each family designates the sire. The parents of family 5A are dam 5 and sire 105, 5B are dam 5 and sire 106, 6A dam 6 and sire 105, and 6B are dam 6 and sire 106, and so forth.

Map of Resurrection Bay. Numbers indicate the location where experimental fish were collected in 2001 as designated below. LC designates Likes Creek, the location where the parents were collected.

Scatterplot of the number of progeny returning for sires (a) and dams (b). For example, there were two sires that produced 10 returning progeny. The line is the expected Poisson distribution.

43

42

Page

37

40

41

LIST OF APPENDICES

- A. Pilgrim, K. 1999. Identification of the sex-determining locus in pink salmon. M.A., Organismal Biology and Ecology, University of Montana.
- B. Spruell, P., B.A. Greene, C. Habicht, K.L. Knudsen, K.R. Lindner, J.B. Olsen, K.L. Pilgrim, G.K. Sage, J.E. Seeb, and F.W. Allendorf. 1999. Inheritance of nuclear DNA markers in gynogenetic haploid pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). Journal of Heredity 90:289-296.
- C. Lindner, K.R., J. E. Seeb, C. Habicht, E. Kretschmer, D. J. Reedy, P. Spruell, and F. W. Allendorf. 2000. Gene-centromere mapping of 312 marker loci in pink salmon by half-tetrad analysis. Genome 43:538-549.
- D. Steinberg, E. K., K. R. Lindner, J. Gallea, A. Maxwell, J. Meng, and F. W. Allendorf. 2002. Rates and patterns of microsatellite mutations in pink salmon. Molecular Biology and Evolution 19:1198-1202.
- E. Funk, W.C., Tyburczy, J.A., Knudsen, K.L., Lindner, K.R., and F. W. Allendorf. 2005. Genetic basis of variation in morphological and life history traits of pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). J. Heredity 96:24-31.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The project to construct a genetic linkage map of the pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) genome, and to use this map to study the marine survival and fitness in this species, is complete. This work resulted in four peer-reviewed publications in the journals (Appendices B through E) and a published thesis (Appendix A). These journal articles represent the core of this final report.

The linkage map will allow the evaluation of genetic impacts of the March 1989 *Exxon Valdez* oil spill on pink salmon populations and will help to document the recovery of affected populations in Prince William Sound. A linkage map will be essential for detecting and understanding causes of reduced egg and embryo survival in oiled areas. In addition, the markers that are mapped and characterized in detail will aid other recovery efforts with pink salmon, including estimation of straying rates, description of stock structure, and testing for a genetic basis of marine survival.

Elevated embryo mortality was detected in populations of pink salmon inhabiting oiled streams following the spill. These increased rates of mortality persisted through the 1993 field season, three generations after the spill. This suggests that genetic damage may have occurred as a result of exposure to oil during early developmental life-stages.

The genetic linkage map will provide the platform to address the genetic impact of the oil spill. The initial framework of the map used haploid progeny to avoid the difficulties associated with dominant markers that obscure recessive alternatives in diploids. Gynogenetic diploids from the same family were also examined to locate centromeres of chromosomes and facilitate the consolidation of the map.

Gametes and tissues of pink salmon were collected from the Armin F. Koernig hatchery in August of 1995 as well as the Solomon Gulch hatchery in August 1996. Families of gynogenetic haploid and diploid embryos were produced in cooperation with the Alaska Department of Fish and Game by mixing irradiated sperm with eggs from individual females. One family (A95-103) was chosen to be the primary reference family upon which initial mapping efforts were focused.

Linkage analysis of 596 DNA markers segregating in the gynogenetic haploids produced a genetic map comprising 44 linkage groups covering a distance of 4550 centiMorgans. Assuming a minimum distance of 28 centiMorgans for linkage detection and accounting for all the gaps and unlinked markers the minimum distance of the pink salmon genome is 6472 centiMorgans. The haploid pink salmon genome consists of approximately 2.72 million kilobase pairs, thus we estimate approximately 420 kilobase pairs per centiMorgan.

Thirteen allozyme loci have been added to the map using gynogenetic diploid and normal diploid data. Five allozyme loci are polymorphic in female A95-103 and thus could be tested for nonrandom segregation using the gynogenetic diploid data. The other eight

loci were placed on the map through classic linkage analysis of diploid pink salmon families. With the addition of these markers the linkage map consists of a total of 609 markers.

The microsatellites and genes of known function added to the linkage map serve as landmarks, or "anchor loci" and will facilitate comparisons between maps. These loci allow comparison of genetic linkage of odd- and even-year pink salmon, estimation of recombination rates of males and females, and incorporation of data from other salmonid linkage maps. The known genes will be of particular interest during the second phase of this project in which we examine selective effects of the marine environment on the pink salmon genome.

A complementary even-year map has been constructed. Development of this map, based on the segregation of loci in family V96-13, followed the same design as the odd-year map. This map enabled us to compare odd- and even-year pink salmon as well as add seven new markers to the odd-year map. This even-year map consists of 123 loci, 103 of which have been assigned to one of 33 linkage groups. One locus included on this map is a gene of known function (*MHCBa2*).

We have generated a large number of markers distributed throughout the genome using haploid embryos and multilocus techniques. Due to their polyploid ancestry, salmonid genomes are large, therefore many markers will be required to span the entire genome of pink salmon. We have successfully created a genome map with 44 linkage groups. However despite the number of the markers examined, we were unable to consolidate the map enough to reduce the number of linkage groups to 26, the number of chromosome pairs in pink salmon (2N = 52). Additional markers must be mapped in order to consolidate the map. We have collected gene-centromere distances of 319 loci using gynogenetic diploids. Comparison of the genome maps of odd- and even-year fish has revealed no significant differences between them. We will submit a publication on the results of our mapping efforts.

We are now focusing on the marine survival and fitness portion of the study. Two experimental cohorts have been produced and their returning adult progeny collected. Both cohorts were hatched and released from the Alaska SeaLife Center in Seward. In August 1998, gametes and tissue from 150 pink salmon from Likes Creek were collected and 75 single-cross families were produced. Ten embryos from each family were analyzed to evaluate inheritance of genetic markers. A total of 48,329 individuals from 49 of these families were marked and released into Resurrection Bay in May, 1999. At the time of release, 1000 fry from the experimental families were randomly sampled for genetic analysis. In August 1999, gametes and tissue from 68 pink salmon from Likes Creek were collected and 68 half-sibling families were produced. A total of 24,216 fry from all 68 families were marked and released into Resurrection Bay in April 2000. A sample of 500 fry was collected at the time of release.

In August 2000 we planned to collect experimental adult pink salmon as they returned to the fish pass at the Alaska SeaLife Center. Failure of the fish pass to attract any fish

forced us to modify these plans. A total of 36 marked pink salmon were collected by seining freshwater streams in upper Resurrection Bay and from recreational fishermen responding to an incentive. Based on the collection effort and the number of fish collected it is our belief that a significant number of marked pink salmon returned to Resurrection Bay, but due to our limited resources we were unable to collect more returning adults.

Though the fish pass at the Alaska SeaLife Center did attract fish 2001, probably due to increased water flow, it still failed to capture them. We collected fish through alternate means including seining nearby rivers, hook-and-line, and an incentive to recreational fishermen. We recovered 259 adult fish from the 1999 experimental cohort.

We genotyped the 36 returning marked pink salmon recovered in August 2000 at nine microsatellite loci and two genes of known function (*MHC* α 1 and *GH*2) and successfully assigned them back to their family of origin.

The 259 fish from the 1999 cohort were genotyped at nine microsatellite loci and one gene of known function (GH2) which have been used to place them into families. Analysis based on this information has revealed nearly random family returns, and strong heritability of length in both males and females (0.38 and 0.41 respectively).

Several mutations were detected at two of the nine microsatellite loci (*SSA408* and *OGO1c*) in the embryos of the 1998 cohort during the analysis of the transmission of genetic markers used to evaluate parentage. Further analysis revealed a great deal of heterogeneity in microsatellite mutation rates and patterns. Mutation rate estimates ranged from 8.5×10^{-3} and 3.9×10^{-3} mutations per transmission in *SSA408* and *OGO1c* respectively, to 0.0 at the other seven loci.

The detection of large clusters of identical mutations at one locus, SSA408, indicated that the majority of mutant alleles identified reflected mutational events that occurred early in the differentiation of the germline. Evidence for a hypermutable allele at SSA408 was also detected. Genetic analysis of the adult progeny collected from the 1999 cohort has revealed similar patterns of mutation. Mutations were detected at both SSA408 and OGOIc at frequencies of 1.9×10^{-3} and 1.2×10^{-2} mutations per transmission. These rates are comparable to those found in the 1998 cohort, and as in that cohort, no mutations were detected at the other seven microsatellite loci. These findings indicate that microsatellite mutation dynamics are complex and likely vary substantially among loci.

The mapping portion of this project is complete. We released and collected both cohorts of experimental progeny. We have determined the genotypes of the parents used to generate both cohorts, the genotypes of returning adult progeny from both cohorts, as well as genotypes of embryos sampled from the 1998 cohort. We also collected morphological data on the parents and the returning adults the 1998 cohort.

Understanding the genetic basis of phenotypic variation is essential for predicting the direction and rate of phenotypic evolution. We estimated heritabilities and genetic correlations of morphological (fork length, pectoral and pelvic fin ray counts, and gill arch raker counts) and life history (egg number and individual egg weight) traits of pink salmon from Likes Creek, Alaska, in order to characterize the genetic basis of phenotypic variation in this species. Families were created from wild-caught adults, raised to the fry stage in the lab, released into the wild, and caught as returning adults and assigned to family using microsatellite loci and a growth hormone locus.

Morphological traits were all moderately to highly heritable, but egg number and egg weight were not heritable, suggesting that past selection has eliminated additive genetic variation in egg number and egg weight or that there is high environmental variance in these traits. Genetic correlations were similar for non-adjacent morphological traits and adjacent traits. Genetic correlations predicted phenotypic correlations fairly accurately, but some pairs of traits with low genetic correlations had high phenotypic correlations, and vice versa, emphasizing the need to use caution when using phenotypic correlations as indices of genetic correlations.

INTRODUCTION.

We proposed to construct a genetic linkage map for pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) and to use this map to evaluate effects of natural selection on the genome of this species. Such a map was proposed initially to provide the necessary platform to identify genetic damage in pink salmon inhabiting oiled streams following the March 1989 *Exxon Valdez* oil spill (EVOS). We also conducted a series of experiments based at the Alaska SeaLife Center (ASLC) to identify regions of the genome that affect various organismal traits and to test for the effects of natural selection on regions of the genome that include markers used to describe genetic population structure. This research was designed to aid recovery efforts with pink salmon, including estimation of straying rates, description of stock structure, and testing if marine survival and other organismal measures of phenotypic variation have a genetic basis.

Elevated embryo mortalities were detected in populations of pink salmon inhabiting oiled streams following the spill. These increased rates of mortality persisted through the 1993 field season, three generations after the oil spill, suggesting that genetic damage may have occurred as a result of exposure to oil during early developmental life-stages. The consequences of the putative genetic damage include impaired physiological function of individuals and reduced reproductive capacity of pink salmon populations (Bue et al. 1998).

This work was designed to support work with pink salmon under the project *Oil-Related Embryo Mortalities* (Restoration Study \191A). The objective of that project was to identify germline mutations in pink salmon exposed to oil. Genetic damage induced by oil may either be small changes in nucleotide sequence (microlesions) or large-scale changes in chromosome structure (macrolesions). A detailed genetic map for pink salmon would have been invaluable for interpreting the results of Restoration Study \191A in several ways. First, it would be possible by following the inheritance of any DNA lesions to determine if they are micro- or macro-lesions. Second, these lesions could be mapped to determine if they are randomly spread throughout the genome or if they occur at mutational "hot spots" that are susceptible to oil induced damage. However, Restoration Study \191A was not completed.

Molecular genetic techniques have been used extensively to describe population structure of Pacific salmon (Utter et al. 1993; Gharrett and Smoker 1994; Seeb et al. 1998). Genetic divergence among populations has been interpreted as largely reflecting the patterns of exchange of individuals among populations (gene flow) and random changes in frequency of selectively neutral alleles within populations (genetic drift) (Allendorf and Phelps 1981; Waples 1995). This is a useful approach that allows description of the pattern and amount of gene flow among populations. This approach to describe population structure is based upon the assumption that the pattern and amount of divergence observed is not affected by natural selection or mutation. However, even weak natural selection may have a substantial effect on the pattern of genetic divergence among populations (Allendorf 1983). In addition, different mutation rates at marker loci may also effect the amount of genetic differentiation between populations, in particular if mutation rates at some loci are high (e.g., Jin and Chakraborty 1995). Thus, the high frequency of mutations that we have detected may also have a substantial effect on the amount and pattern of genetic divergence at some loci.

Our work resulted in four peer-reviewed publications in the journals (Appendices B through E) and a published thesis (Appendix A). These journal articles represent the core of this final report.

OBJECTIVES. This project originally had the following overall specific objectives:

1. Develop several hundred variable DNA markers in pink salmon and test them for Mendelian inheritance.

2. Construct a linkage map based upon joint segregation patterns of the DNA polymorphisms detected in previous objective.

3. Map putative lesions identified in Restoration Study \191A.

4. Test for Mendelian inheritance of markers throughout the genome in progeny of fish exposed to oil. Regions that show aberrant segregation ratios in progeny of fish exposed to oil and normal 1:1 ratios in fish not exposed to oil would be candidates for oil-induced lesions.

5. Test for regions of the genome that are associated with traits of adaptive significance (e.g., marine mortality or run-timing).

6. Test if protein markers (allozymes) are under natural selection such that they may not provide accurate information about the genetic structure and amount of gene flow among populations.

We completed Objectives 1 and 2 (Appendices A, B, C, and D). We did not pursue Objective 3 because Restoration Study /191A did not identify any putative lesions for mapping, and Objective 4 because this aspect of Restoration Study \191A was not completed. We completed Objectives 5 and 6 (Appendix E)

METHODS

Gametes for the inheritance studies and linkage map were collected from Prince William Sound in collaboration with the project Oil-Related Embryo Mortalities (Restoration Study \191A). Embryo incubation took place at the Genetics Lab facilities of ADFG. The laboratory analyses were done at the University of Montana and the ADFG genetics lab in Anchorage.

We began in FY 1998 to use the ASLC Research Facilities at Seward for experiments designed to test for natural selection at loci throughout the genome of pink salmon. Sexually mature pink salmon used in the experimental matings in 1998 and 1999 were collected from Likes Creek in Resurrection Bay. The progeny were marked with an adipose fin clip and released into Resurrection Bay. Due to the failure of the fish pass at the ASLC to attract returning adults we adjusted our plans for recapturing returning adults from the 1999 cohort to include sampling in upper Resurrection Bay.

Our initial map was constructed using gynogenetic haploid and gynogenetic diploid progeny from an odd-year individual female (95-103). This is the same procedure that has been used to build the zebrafish linkage map (Postlethwait et al. 1994). Stanley (1983) reported that haploid embryos of Atlantic salmon will develop until just prior to the stage of hatching if development of the eggs is activated by sperm in which the DNA has been inactivated by UV-radiation. We have used this technique routinely with fishes of the genus *Oncorhynchus* (Forbes et al. 1994; Appendix B). This allows us to follow the segregation and linkage relationships in haploid progeny from females. The use of haploid progeny avoids possible difficulties of dominance with some types of DNA markers because recessive alleles are not obscured by their dominant alternatives in haploids (Lie et al. 1994). Our odd-year map is primarily based on 603 segregating markers in 94 haploid progeny from a single pink salmon female (A95-103) that returned to Armin F. Koernig hatchery in Prince William Sound in August 1995. We placed a number of so-called "anchor" loci on this map.

In addition we completed the construction of a linkage map based on the segregation pattern of 90 haploid individuals in an even-year female (V96-13). Oddand even-year pink salmon are reproductively isolated due to the fixed two-year life cycle of this species (Aspinwall 1974). Beacham et al. (1988) report substantial allozyme and morphological evidence for differentiation of alternate brood years. In addition, Phillips and Kapuscinski (1988) and Phillips et al. (1999) detected chromosomal rearrangements between odd- and even-year populations that occur in the same geographical area. Furthermore, in a recent experimental study, Gharrett et al. (1999) demonstrated outbreeding depression in crosses between the two year classes. Together, these finding suggest that the alternate brood years are reproductively isolated and genetically distinct. Having linkage data from both odd- and even-year individuals will make it possible to map more markers and will allow us to determine whether linkage relationships are conserved between the reproductively isolated year classes.

Marine Survival and Fitness Experiment

This aspect of the research was performed at the ASLC research facilities. Approximately 50,000 and 24,000 marked fish were released in spring of 1999 and 2000 respectively. We collected 36 sexually mature adults in Resurrection Bay from the 1998 cohort and 259 sexually mature adults in Resurrection Bay from the 1999 cohort produced from wild pink salmon collected from Likes Creek. A sample of the fish was collected at release and will be analyzed so that their genetic characteristics prior to the marine phase of the life cycle can be compared to the returning adults. Mousseau et al. (1998) have used a similar approach to estimate heritabilities for weight, length, and age at sexual maturation in chinook salmon.

RESULTS

Gene-Centromere Map

We estimated recombination rates between 312 loci and their centromeres using half-tetrad analysis in a recently published manuscript (Appendix C). We produced the half-tetrads by initiating development with irradiated sperm and blocking the maternal second meiotic division (Appendix B). AFLPs were significantly more centromeric than loci identified by three other techniques (allozymes, microsatellites, and PINEs). The near absence of AFLPs in distal regions could limit their utility in constructing linkage maps. A large proportion of loci had y values approaching 1.0, indicating near complete crossover interference on many chromosome arms. As predicted from models of chromosomal evolution in salmonids, all duplicated microsatellite loci that shared alleles (isoloci) had y values of nearly 1.0. This is consistent with previous data from allozyme loci.

Haploid Linkage Map

We assigned 546 of the 590 markers analyzed for segregation in family A95-103 to one of 44 linkage groups covering a distance of 4559 cM (Figure 1; Tables 1-3). Given the haploid number of 26 chromosomes for pink salmon, our mapping efforts produced 18 extra linkage groups. Taking into account the extra linkage groups and 43 unassigned markers as well as the distance to the telomeres we estimate the size of the pink salmon genome to be 6691 cM. The haploid pink salmon genome is approximately 2.72 billion base pairs or 2.72 million kilobase pairs (kpb; Johnson et al 1987b); thus, we estimate approximately 406 kbp/cM.

Each of the 35 microsatellite loci analyzed for linkage in female A95-103 was assigned to one of the 44 linkage groups. Segregation analysis of three loci Fgt1-1,2, Ogo7-1,2, and OmyFGT276-1,2 identified these loci as being duplicated (Lindner et al. 2000). OmyFGT276-1,2 was the only duplicated locus for which female A95-103 was polymorphic at both loci allowing both loci to be mapped. The two loci map to different linkage groups, LG18 and LG53. Additional loci such as, $\mu Sat60-1,2$, Ocl2-1,2, Fgt25, and Ssa20.19-1,2 where only one of the duplicated pair of loci segregates in female A95-103 were confirmed to be duplicated through segregation

analysis in different pink salmon families (unpublished data). Additional segregation analysis identified a PCR null allele at *Ssa197*, *One2*, and *OmyFGT276-2*. Half of the haploid progeny amplified the same allele present in female A95-103 and half did not amplify any product (Appendix B).

AFLPs and PINEs amplified the greatest number of reproducible polymorphic loci, 393 and 162 respectively (Table 2). A total of 519 of the AFLP and PINE polymorphisms are presence / absence differences. In addition, ten of the AFLP polymorphisms and eight PINE polymorphisms appeared to be caused by a length polymorphism within a fragment. For all of these polymorphisms, individuals have one of two different sized fragments produced by the same primer combination (Appendix B).

We analyzed 168 AFLP and 101 PINE loci in gynogenetic diploid progeny at which female A95-103 is heterozygous for the presence or absence of a product based on haploid progeny (Appendix B, Lindner et al. 2000). In addition, gene-centromere data was collected for five allozyme loci (*sAAT3*, *CKC2*, *ADA2*, *GDA1*, and *PEPD2*) and 34 microsatellite loci in female A95-103.

A total of 202 out of 304 loci met the gynogenetic diploid linkage analysis criteria discussed above. Only two of the five allozyme loci polymorphic in female A95-103 could be included with a $y \le 0.79$ (*CKC2* y=0.29 and *GDA1* y=0.35). We detected 345 non-random associations between pairs of loci. Of these pairwise associations, 293 confirmed linkage previously detected with the haploid data. However, 52 non-random associations are between loci from two different linkage groups based on the haploid data. Ten pairs of linkage groups included two or more significant pairwise associations. Two separate linkage groups based on the haploid ata were consolidated to one linkage group, LG40, based on the gynogenetic diploid analysis.

Linkage analysis conducted for allozyme and microsatellite loci in 16 normal diploid pink salmon families resulted in the addition of 11 allozyme loci to the haploid map. Five allozyme loci are linked to microsatellite loci already placed on the map using the haploid data (Table 3). One allozyme locus, *CKC2* is linked to two linkage groups. Based on the gene-centromere data from female A95-103 *CKC2* is linked to three loci in LG53, *OmyRGT43* ($\chi^2 = 22.03$), *ACG/CAA240* ($\chi^2 = 14.54$), and *ACC/CAA106* ($\chi^2 = 13.88$). Based on the normal diploid data from family A95-103 this locus is linked to μ Str60-1,2 in LG 25 (rf = 0.348, $\chi^2 = 4.26$; Table 3).

Interference: The degree of interference was estimated in nine linkage groups based on both half-tetrad (gynogenetic diploid) data as well as haploid data (Table 4). The two methods used to estimate interference agree on the degree of interference in only one of the nine comparisons (LG8; Table 4). In four cases (linkage groups 27, 33, 34, 57) the estimates were very close, either high or complete interference. In three of the four cases (linkage groups 2, 25, and 40) when the two methods do not agree the half-tetrad analysis resulted in high or complete interference and the haploid data results moderate to no

interference. In one comparison (LG5) the half-tetrad data resulted in no interference and the haploid data resulted in moderate interference.

Interference analysis of half-tetrads across six loci in LG2 results in an estimate of high interference. If a subset of only two loci from this group is analyzed using the half tetrad method the interference estimate is no interference.

Comparison of Odd- and Even-Year Linkage Map

We described the segregation of 590 markers in haploid progeny from female A95-103; we also mapped 13 allozyme loci in the same female. We assigned 546 of the 590 DNA markers and all of the allozyme loci to one of 44 linkage groups covering a distance of 4559 cM. Given the haploid number of 26 chromosomes for pink salmon, our mapping efforts produced 18 extra linkage groups. Taking into account the extra linkage groups and 44 unassigned markers as well as the distance to the telomeres we estimate the size of the pink salmon genome to be 6691 cM. The haploid pink salmon genome is approximately 2.72 million kilobase pairs (kpb; Johnson et al 1987b); thus, we estimate approximately 406 kbp/cM. These results are consistent with our expectations when comparing to maps constructed in other fishes.

We completed construction of a linkage map for even-year pink salmon from Prince William Sound. We analyzed the segregation pattern of 85 loci in an even-year family (V96-13) and assigned 63 of 85 loci to one of 22 linkage groups. One gene of known function, $MHCB^{\alpha}2$, is assigned to a linkage group that consists of one microsatellite and two PINE loci.

We estimated gene-centromere distances for 13 additional microsatellite loci in both odd and even year pink salmon (Figure 2). Most loci fall near our expectation for equal y's in both years. One locus, *FGT34*, appears to be telomeric in the even year family and centromeric in the odd year family. RGT1 displays the opposite pattern, appearing to be proximal in the even year family but distal in the odd year family.

Mutation Analysis

Our results have provided exciting and important information about mutation processes in microsatellites that are accepted for publication in the journal Molecular Biology and Evolution (Appendix D). Our experimental design depends upon being able to place returning adults into their correct family on the basis of their multiple-locus genotypes. We tested this by examining inheritance data at 11 loci (nine microsatellites and two genes of known function) for 10 progeny from each of the 50 families that were released in spring of 1999. In the process of analyzing the inheritance data, we detected several mutations at two of the microsatellite loci (*SSA408* and *OGO1c*), indicating that these loci have particularly high mutation rates. Furthermore, at *SSA408* the mutations detected were not distributed randomly among families. Rather, clusters of identical mutation events occurring very early in gametogenesis, prior to meiosis.

Our results have important significance for the use of microsatellite loci in management. Mutations are expected to have a substantial effect on the amount and pattern of genetic divergence among populations if the mutation rate approaches the rate of migration among populations (see discussion in Allendorf and Seeb 2000). Not surprisingly, the number of mutations detected was correlated with the number of alleles in the sample. We detected mutations at the two loci that have the greatest number of alleles in the parental population (OGO1c and SSA408). The mutation rate estimates at OGO1c and SSA408 $(3.7 \times 10^{-3} \text{ and } 5.4 \times 10^{-3})$ are at the high end of the range of 10^{-3} to 10^{-3} ⁶ reported for other organisms (Dallas 1992, Weber and Wong 1993, Schug et al. 1997). The variability of these two loci makes them powerful tools for assigning parentage. We were able to unambiguously assign parentage to 35 of the 36 returning fish from the 1998 cohort based on these two loci alone. However, given the high probability of mutation at these loci, our results indicate that it is important to use a combination of low and high variability markers for parentage analysis. Our mutation analysis also suggests that OGO1c and SSA408 are inappropriate as markers for analysis of stock structure in pink salmon.

Marine Survival and Fitness Experiment: 1998 cohort

In August 1998, 150 (75 male and 75 female) mature pink salmon were collected from Likes Creek, Resurrection Bay, and transported to the ASLC for controlled matings. We made 75 families of full-sibs by crossing one male and one female. One hundred progeny from each family were collected to test marker inheritance for parentage analysis. We then selected 50 of these families on the basis of egg number and survival during incubation for the release experiment. These families were pooled together into a single tank in March shortly after hatching. In May 1999, approximately 1,500 progeny from each of these 50 single-pair mating families were marked and released from the ASLC facility.

Progeny from this experiment returned in August 2000. We had anticipated a return rate of 2%, for a total of 1,000-2,000 individuals expected to be recovered for genetic and morphological analyses (approximately 30 fish per family). However, no fish returned to the ASLC fish pass, and we captured a total of 36 fish throughout Resurrection Bay. These 36 fish were placed into 30 families on the basis of 10 microsatellite loci. This sample size was too small to answer the questions that we are addressing.

Marine Survival and Fitness Experiment: 1999 cohort

We repeated this experiment with odd-year pink salmon in August 1999. We collected 68 adults (34 females and 34 males) from Likes Creek, and released their marked progeny from the ASLC in May 2000. This cohort returned in the summer of 2001. We used a different experimental mating scheme with these fish to allow a more powerful genetic analysis of the progeny. Each male and each female was crossed with two individuals in a series of 2×2 diallel crosses (Figure 3).

We collected 259 sexually mature adults from this cohort that returned to Resurrection Bay in summer 2001 (Figure 4). We identified the parents of these fish based upon genotypes at eight microsatellite loci and a growth hormone locus. The distribution of returning progeny (i.e., reproductive success) of the 34 males and females is close to expected with random reproductive success (Table 5; Figure 5). The only apparent exception is that there are 2 males that each produced an exceptionally large number of returning progeny.

The results from quantitative genetic analysis of these progeny are described in Appendix E.

DISCUSSION

Evaluation of Even-year Families for Mapping

We placed a gene of known function, $MHCB\alpha 2$, on the even-year linkage map. This gene is currently linked to two PINE loci and one of a duplicated microsatellite locus (STR60-2). Unfortunately, STR60-2 is not mapped on our more comprehensive odd-year map. Further work is necessary in order to place $MHCB\alpha 2$ on the odd-year map.

There are two classes of *MHC* genes, class I and class II. Class I *MHC* is involved with the ability of the body to recognize altered "self" cells and *MHC* class II is involved in recognizing foreign invaders. Studies of the organization of *MHC* suggest that the class I and II regions are not linked in bony fishes (Sato et al. 2000). In addition, this gene is a candidate for analysis in the marine survival and fitness experiment.

Comparative mapping

Pink salmon are unique in that they exhibit a rigid two-year life cycle that has resulted in two reproductively isolated odd- and even-year lineages (Aspinwell 1974). Beacham et al. (1988) found substantial allozyme and morphological evidence for differentiation of alternate brood years. In addition, Phillips and Kapuscinski (1988) and Phillips et al. (1999) detected chromosomal rearrangements between odd- and even-year populations that occur in the same geographical area. Furthermore, in a recent experimental study, Gharrett et al. (1999) demonstrated outbreeding depression in crosses between the two year classes. Together, these findings suggest that the alternate brood years are reproductively isolated and genetically distinct.

Our genetic analysis of the odd and even-year stocks from Likes Creek did not detect any differences in recombination fraction at linked loci between year class. The comparison of both haploid linkage data and gene-centromere distances between odd and even-year classes support findings that gene order is highly conserved (Graf 1989). The similarity in gene order between these two year classes also supports the incorporation of results from the even-year map onto the more comprehensive odd-year map. Finer resolution mapping with a greater number of loci is necessary to determine the existence and location of any differences between these year classes.

Of the 41 microsatellite loci on the pink salmon linkage map, 27 are included on the rainbow trout map (Sakamoto et al. 2000). Two of these loci included on our map are one of a duplicated pair in pink salmon, but are only known to have a single copy in the rainbow trout map. It is unknown which copies are included on our map. A comparison of the odd year pink salmon linkage map and the rainbow trout map (Sakamoto et al. 2000) is discussed in Appendix 4.

Differences in recombination rates

The analysis of recombination rates in pink salmon detected large differences between individuals. Sakamoto et al. (2000) suggest that this might be a result of anscestral tetrasomic inheritance and pseudolinkage. When homeologous chromosomes pair and exchange material, the resulting homologous chromosomes are less similar to each other than when homologous pairing occurs (Allendorf and Danzmann 1997). Presumably this makes it more difficult in subsequent generations for pairing and exchanges to occur resulting in a lower rate of recombination in those individuals produced from parents in which multivalent pairing occurred.

Previous studies in salmonids have detected differences in recombination rates between males and females (Wright et al. 1983, and Sakamoto et al. 2000). Due to large differences detected between individuals within each sex we compared the average recombination rate of females to that of males at each locus. Initial results agree with Sakamoto et al. (2000); females have a higher recombination rate at loci located close to the centromere (y < 0.17; Table 3). Due to our small data set we are unable to draw conclusions for loci that are farther from the centromere (y > 0.71).

In tetraploid species such as pink salmon, it has been suggested that the difference in recombination rate between sexes is due to constraints imposed on crossing-over during multivalent pairing (Sakamoto et al. 2000). Multivalent pairing has only been reported in males and generally occurs in the telomeric region (Wright et al. 1983; Allendorf and Danzmann 1997). It has been suggested that multivalent pairing in males explains the tendency for males to have a higher rate of recombination than females in telomeric regions. Recombination in the telomeric regions of males can occur between homologous and homeologous chromosomes increasing the chance for exchange in that region.

Mutation Analysis

Our inheritance dataset revealed a great deal of heterogeneity in mutation rates and patterns among the nine microsatellite loci analyzed (Appendix D). All mutations detected, both in embryos from the 1998 cohort, and returning adults from the 1999 cohort were at two of the nine loci (*OGO1c* and *SSA408*). These two loci are, by far, the most variable examined in this study, both in number of alleles and in length. It seems likely that the high rates of mutation at these loci are responsible for their high levels of genetic variation. These two loci are also the only tetranucleotide repeats; the other seven loci are dinucleotide repeats. All mutant alleles detected differed from the parental allele by four base pairs which is suggestive of addition or deletion of a single repeat unit. The mutation rate estimates at OGO1c and SSA408 are at the high end of the range of 10^{-3} to 10^{-6} reported for other organisms (Dallas 1992, Weber and Wong 1993, Schug et al. 1997). Investigation of the adult returns from the 1999 cohort yielded similar estimates of mutation rates for both OGO1c and SSA408.

The variability of these two loci makes them powerful tools for assigning parentage. We were able to unambiguously assign parentage to 35 of the 36 returning fish from the 1998 cohort based on these two loci alone. However, given the high probability of mutation at these loci, our results indicate that it is important to use a combination of low and high variability markers for parentage analysis.

Mutations at *SSA408* were not distributed randomly among families, but rather tended to be clustered within families. This pattern of inheritance suggests that a high proportion of novel alleles resulted from mutations occurring early in gametogenesis. Clustering of mutations within single families has been shown to bias estimates of mutation rates and to influence basic population genetic processes such as fixation probabilities (Woodruff et al. 1996). Another potential source of bias we detected at *SSA408* was the tendency for mutations to increase allele size and for particular alleles to be hypermutable. The variability of mutations within and among loci and among families suggests that mutation should not be ignored when interpreting patterns of genetic differentiation (e.g., when conducting stock structure analysis). Loci with a high mutation rates violate the customary assumption that the effect of mutation is negligible, and may be less useful in estimating gene flow and historical patterns of isolation because these signals will be obscured by the accumulation of mutations. Certainly, if data from both highly polymorphic and less polymorphic loci are being combined, the possibility for locus-specific effects should be evaluated.

2000 returns

In August and September 2000 no fish returned to the ALSC fish pass. We expected most of our returning population to detect and be drawn toward the freshwater signal at the ASLC. However, due to the failure of the fish pass we were forced to survey freshwater streams in upper Resurrection Bay for marked pink salmon using seine nets. We also relied on recreational fisherman to turn in marked pink salmon. Though we were able to collect 36 marked pink salmon this sample is too small to test for correlation between genes and fitness traits. One problem with the fishpass was that the amount of freshwater the facility was releasing was probably inadequate for the returning adults to detect.

2001 returns

Increased outflow from the fish pass at the ASLC in August and September 2001 was likely responsible for successfully attracting fish. However, it did not actually catch any fish which necessitated other means of retrieving them. The 260 fish recovered is slightly greater than one percent of the released fry. We have only recently completed genetic analysis of these fish at nine of ten loci examined in the 1999 parents. This has enabled us to unambiguously assign the fish into parental families, and observe trends of heritability of length for this cohort.

The near random distribution of returns among families indicates that the influence of selection favoring some families over others is limited. The index of variability (mean family size divided by variance) tends toward 1 under random survival, and increases with deviation from random survival (as families tend to survive or perish as a unit; Crow and Morton, 1955). The index of variability value of 1.82 in this cohort indicates some departure from complete random survival but is much lower than the values of 4.03 and 4.97 found by Geiger et al. (1997) in the two cohorts of pink salmon in which they were able to detect a significant sire effect on survival.

The relatively high heritability of length found in both males and females (0.38 and 0.41; Appendix E) is similar to the values (0.4 and 0.2) found in pink salmon from Auke Creek, AK, released into the wild by Smoker et al. (1994). Heritability of length combined with random family returns suggests that, at least under the oceanic conditions this cohort experienced, inherited body length had little effect on marine survival. However, this does not address the effect of length on mating success since these fish were mated in captivity.

CONCLUSIONS

We constructed odd- and even-year linkage maps that can be used to test for effects of regions of the genome on traits that are important to the recovery of pink salmon (e.g., growth and survival) and to evaluate stock structure. We placed a gene of known function on the even-year map, $MHCB\alpha 2$. Comparisons between odd and even-year maps have not detected any differences in gene order.

Understanding the genetic basis of phenotypic variation is essential for predicting the direction and rate of phenotypic evolution. We estimated heritabilities and genetic correlations of morphological (fork length, pectoral and pelvic fin ray counts, and gill arch raker counts) and life history (egg number and individual egg weight) traits of pink salmon from Likes Creek, Alaska, in order to characterize the genetic basis of phenotypic variation in this species. Families were created from wild-caught adults, raised to the fry stage in the lab, released into the wild, and caught as returning adults and assigned to family using microsatellite loci and a growth hormone locus.

Morphological traits were all moderately to highly heritable, but egg number and egg weight were not heritable, suggesting that past selection has eliminated additive genetic variation in egg number and egg weight or that there is high environmental variance in these traits. Genetic correlations were similar for non-adjacent morphological traits and adjacent traits. Genetic correlations predicted phenotypic correlations fairly accurately, but some pairs of traits with low genetic correlations had high phenotypic correlations, and vice versa, emphasizing the need to use caution when using phenotypic correlations as indices of genetic correlations.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Alaska Department of Fish & Game Gene Conservation Lab for their assistance throughout this project. We thank Brian Mullaly, Susan Inglis, Jon Moreland, and Annette D'Alessandro and the staff and volunteers at the Alaska SeaLife Center for their assistance in capturing, raising, and sampling fish. We thank Barry Stratton and the ADF&G Gene Conservation Lab for their continued assistance in this project. Thanks to David Knudsen, Kevin Sage for assistance in capturing and creating the 1999 cohort. Thanks also to Ellie Steinberg, Megan Skinner, Kristin Bott, Jim Gallea, Joe Meng, Aaron Maxwell, Andrew Whiteley and the rest of the crew at the Wild Trout and Salmon Genetics Lab, University of Montana, Missoula. In addition, we thank the Prince William Sound Aquaculture Corporation and the Valdez Fisheries Development Association for providing adult fish and gametes. We also thank D. Knudsen, K. Sage, B. Mullaly, S. Inglis, J. Moreland, R. Hocking, and A. D'Alessandro and the staff of the Alaska SeaLife Center for their assistance in capturing and raising fish. We thank S. Forbes, M. Skinner, and J. Wenburg for comments on the manuscript, R. Leary, M. Steinberg, and A. Whiteley for helpful discussions, and G. Chambers for his suggestions and references on the process of mutations in microsatellites. E.K. Steinberg was supported by a postdoctoral fellowship from the National Science Foundation.

LITERATURE CITED

- Allendorf, F. W. 1983. Isolation, gene flow, and genetic differentiation among populations. In *Genetics and conservation*. Eds. C. Schonewald-Cox, S. Chambers, B. MacBryde, and L. Thomas, pp. 51-65. Menlo Park, CA. Benjamin/Cummings.
- Allendorf, F.W., and R. G. Danzmann. 1997. Secondary tetrasomic segregation of *MDH-B* and preferential pairing of homeologues in male rainbow trout. Genetics 145:1083-1092.
- Allendorf, F. W., W. A. Gellman, and G. H. Thorgaard. 1994. Sex-linkage of two enzyme loci in *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (rainbow trout). Heredity 72:498-507.
- Allendorf, F.W., and R.F. Leary. 1986. Heterozygosity and fitness in natural populations of animals. In: Conservation Biology: The Science of Scarcity and Diversity. M. Soule', editor. Sinauer Assoc. pp. 57-76.
- Allendorf, F. W., and S. R. Phelps. 1981. Use of allelic frequencies to describe population structure. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 38: 1507-1514.
- Allendorf, F.W., and L.W. Seeb. 2000. Concordance of genetic divergence among sockeye salmon populations at allozyme, nuclear DNA, and mtDNA markers. Evolution 54: 54:640-651.

- Allendorf, F. W. and G. H. Thorgaard. 1984. Tetraploidy and the evolution of salmonid fishes. Pages 1-53 in B. J. Turner, ed. Evolutionary Genetics of Fishes. Plenum Publishing Corp., New York.
- Altukhov, Y. P., E. A. Salmenkova, V. T. Omel'chenko, G. A. Rubtzova, and Y. E. Dubrova. 1987. Balancing selection as a possible factor maintaining uniformity of allele frequencies of enzyme loci in populations of Pacific Ocean pink salmon *Oncorhynchus* gorbuscha (Walbaum). Genetika SSSR 23:1884-1896.
- Altukhov, Yu. 1990. Population genetics: diversity and stability. London: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Altukhov, Yu. P., S. V. Mezhzerin, E. A. Salmenkova, and V. T. Omel'chenko. 1989. Effect of selective hatchery on adaptive genetic and biological structure of pink salmon *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha* (Walb.) population. Genetika 25:1843-1853.
- Altukhov, Yu. P., E. A. Salmenkova, and Yu. P. Kartavtsev. 1991. Relation between allozyme heterozygosity and viability and growth rate of pink salmon. Cytology and Genetics 25:47-51.
- Amos, W., S.J. Sawcer, R.W. Feakes, and D.C. Rubinsztein. 1996. Microsatellites show mutational bias and heterozygote instability. Nature Genetics, 13, 390-1.
- Aspinwall, N. 1974. Genetic analysis of North American populations of the pink salmon,
- *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*; possible evidence for the neutral mutation-random drift hypothesis. Evolution 28:295-305.
- Banks, M.A., M.S. Blouin, B.A. Baldwin, V.K. Rashbrook, H.A. Fitzgerald, S.M. Blankenship, and D. Hedgecock. 1999. Isolation and inheritance of novel microsatellites in chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Journal of Heredity 90:281-288.
- Becker, J. P. Vos, M. Kuiper, F. Salamini, and M. Heun, 1995. Combined mapping of AFLP and RFLP markers in barley. Mol. Gen. Genet. 249:65-73.
- Beacham, T. D., R. E. Withler, C. B. Murray, and L. W. Barner. 1988. Variation in bodysize, morphology, egg size, and biochemical genetics of pink salmon in British Columbia. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 117:109-126.
- Biggs, E., T. Baker, M. McGurk, J. E. Hose and R. Kocan. 1991. Injury to Prince William Sound Herring. State/Federal Natural Resources Damage Assessment Draft Preliminary Status Report Unpub. rep. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Cordova, AK.
- Braat, A.K, T. Zandbergen, S. Van de Water, H.J.Th. Goos, and D. Zivkovic. 1999. Characterization of zebrafish primordial germ cells: morphology and early distribution of *vasa* RNA. Developmental Dynamics, 216:153-67.
- Bue, B.G., S. Sharr, and J.E. Seeb. 1998. Evidence of damage to pink salmon populations inhabitating Prince William Sound, Alaska, two generations after the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill. Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc. 127:35-43.
- Cronin, M. A., and J. W. Bickham. 1998. A population genetic analysis of the potential for a crude oil spill to induce heritable mutations and impact natural populations. Ecotoxicology 7:259-278.
- Dallas, J.F. 1992. Estimation of microsatellite mutation rates in recombinant inbred strains of mouse. Mammalian Genome, 3, 452-6.
- Doyle, R. W., C. Herbinger, C. T. Taggart, and S. Lochmann. 1995. Use of DNA microsatellite polymorphism to analyze genetic correlations between hatchery and natural fitness. Amer. Fish. Soc. Symposium 15:205-211.

- Dubrova, Y. E., V. N. Nesterov, N. G. Krouchinsky, V. A. Ostapenko, R. Neumann, D. L. Neil, and A. J. Jeffreys. 1996. Human minisatellite mutation rate after the Chernobyl accident. Nature 380:683-86.
- Dubrova, Y. E., E. A. Salmenkova, Y. P. Altukhov, Y. F. Kartavtsev, E. V. Kalkova, and V.
 T. Omel'chenko. 1995. Family heterozygosity and progeny body length in pink salmon Oncorhynchus gorbuscha (Walbaum). Heredity 75:281-289.
- Ferguson, M.M. 1992. Enzyme heterozygosity and growth in rainbow trout genetic and physiological explanations. Heredity 68:115-122.
- Forbes, S. H., K. L. Knudsen, T. W. North, and F. W. Allendorf. 1994. One of two growth hormone genes in coho salmon is sex-linked. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 91:1628-1631.
- Gharrett, A. J., W. W. Smoker, R. R. Reisenbichler, S. G. Taylor. 1999. Outbreeding depression in hybrids between odd- and even-broodyear pink salmon Aquaculture, 173:117-130.
- Gharrett, A. J., and W. W. Smoker. 1994. Introduction to genetics of subarctic fish and shellfish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 51, Suppl. 1:1-3.
- Goodier, J. L. and W. S. Davidson. 1994. *Tc*1 transposon-like sequences are widely distributed in salmonids. J. Mol. Biol. 241:26-34.
- Greene, B. A., and J. E. Seeb. 1997. SINE and transposon sequences generate highresolution DNA fingerprints, "SINE prints", that exhibit faithful Mendelian inheritance in pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). Molecular Marine Biology and Biotechnology 6:328-338.
- Habicht, C., W.B. Templin, L.W. Seeb, and J.E. Seeb. 1998. Genetics of pink salmon inhabitating Prince William Sound, *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Restoration Project Annual Report (Restoration Project 96196), Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Hunt, R.L. 1969. Overwinter survival of wild fingerling brook trout in Lawrence Creek, Wisconsin. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 26:1473-1483.
- Hurst, L. D. 1999. The evolution of genomic anatomy. Trends Ecol. Evol. 14:108-112.
- Jacob, H.J. and 19 other authors. 1995. A genetic linkage map of the laboratory rat, *Rattus norvegicus*. Nature Genetics 9:63-69.
- Jackson, T. R., M. M. Ferguson, R. G. Danzmann, A. G. Fishback, P. E. Ihssen, M. O'Connell, and T. J. Crease. 1998. Identification of two QTL influencing upper temperature tolerance in three rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) half-sib families. Heredity 80:143-151.
- Jin, L., and R. Chakraborty. 1995. Population structure, stepwise mutations, heterozygote deficiency and their implications in DNA forensics. Heredity 74:274-285.
- Johnson, K. R., J. E. Wright Jr., and B. May. 1987a. Linkage relationships reflecting ancestral tetraploidy in salmonid fish. Genetics 116:579-591.
- Johnson, O. W., F. M. Utter, and P. S. Rabinovitch. 1987b. Interspecies differences in salmonid cellular DNA identified by flow cytometry. Copeia 1987:1001-1009.
- Johnson, S. L., M. A. Gates, M. Johnson, W. S. Talbot, S. Horne, K. Baik, S. Rude, J. R. Wong, and J. H. Postlethwait. 1996. Centromere-linkage analysis and consolidation of the zebrafish genetic map. Genetics 142:1277-1288.
- Jones, A.G., G. Rosenqvist, A. Berglund, and J.C. Avise. 1999. Clustered microsatellite mutations in the pipefish *Syngathus typhle*. Genetics 152:1057-1063.

Karl, S. A. and J.C. Avise. 1992. Balancing selection at allozyme loci in oysters -Implications from nuclear RFLPs. Science 256:100-102.

- Kartavtsev, Y. P. 1992. Allozyme heterozygosity and morphological homeostasis in pink salmon, *Oncorhynchus gorbuscha* (Walbaum) Evidences from family analysis. Journal of Fish Biology 40: 17-24.
- Katagiri, T., I. Hirono, T. Aoki, and M. Sakai. 1996. Isolation of major histocompatibility complex class I cDNA from pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). Developmental and Comparative Immunology 20:217-228.
- Kido, Y., M. Aono, T. Yamaki, K. Matsumoto, S. Murata, M. Saneyoshi, and N. Okada. 1991. Shaping and reshaping of salmonid genomes by amplification of tRNA-derived retroposons during evolution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88: 2326-2330.
- Kocher, T. D., W. J. Lee, H. Sobolewska, D. Penman, and B. McAndrew. 1998. A genetic linkage map of a cichlid fish, the tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Genetics 148:1225-1232.
- Koehn, R.K., W.J. Diehl, and T. M. Scott. 1988. The differential contribution of glycolysis and protein catabolism to the relationship between heterozygosity and growth rate in the coot clam, *Mulina lateralis*. Genetics 118:121-130.
- Lander, E.S. and 6 other authors. 1987. MAPMAKER: an interactive computer package for constructing primary genetic linkage maps of experimental and natural populations. Genomics 1:174-181.
- Lander, E.S., and Schork, N.J. 1994. Genetic dissection of complex traits. Science 265:2037-2048.
- Leary, R.F., F.W. Allendorf, and K.L. Knudsen. 1987. Differences in inbreeding coefficients do not explain the association between heterozygosity at isozyme loci and developmental stability in rainbow trout. Evolution 41:1413-1415.
- Leary, R.F., F.W. Allendorf, and K.L. Knudsen. 1989. Genetic differences among rainbow trout spawned on different days within a single spawning season. Progressive Fish-Culturist 51:10-19.
- Levinson, G. and G.A. Gutman. 1987. Slipped strand mispairing: a major mechanism for DNA sequence evolution. Molecular Biology and Evolution. 4:203-221.
- Lewontin, R.C. 1991. 25 Years ago in genetics electrophoresis in the development of evolutionary genetics milestone or millstone? Genetics 128: 657-62.
- Lie, O., A. Slettan, F. Lingaas, I. Olsaker, I. Hordvik, and T. Refstie. 1994. Haploid gynogenesis: A powerful strategy for linkage analysis in fish. Anim. Biotech. 5:33-45.
- Lindner, K.R., J. E. Seeb, C. Habicht, K.L. Knudsen, E. Kretschmer, D. J. Reedy, P. Spruell, and F. W. Allendorf. 2000. Gene-centromere mapping of 312 loci in pink salmon by half-tetrad analysis. Genome 43: 538-549.

Longwell, A. C. 1977. A genetic look at fish eggs and oil. Oceanus 20(4):46-58.

Lynch, M., and B. Walsh. In preparation. Genetics and Analysis of Quantitative Traits. Volume 2: Evolution and Selection of Quantitative Traits. Sinauer Assoc.

Sunderland, MA. http://nitro.biosci.arizona.edu/zbook/volume_2/vol2.html
Maheswaran, M., P. K. Subudhi, S. Nandi, J. C. Xu, A. Parco, D. C. Yang, and H. Huang, 1997. Polymorphism, distribution and segregation of AFLP markers in a doubled haploid rice population. Theor. Appl. Genet. 94:39-45.

- Malkin, D. 1994. Germline p53 mutations and heritable cancer. Annual Reviews in Genetics 28:443-465.
- Matova, N. and L. Cooley. 2001 Comparative aspects of animal oogenesis. Developmental Biology 231, 291-320.
- McGregor, A. J., S. Lane, M. A. Thomason, L. A. Zhitovsky, W. W. Smoker, and A. J. Gharrett. 1998. Migration timing, a life history trait important in the genetic structure of pink salmon. N. Pac. Anadr. Fish. Comm. Bull. 1:262-273.
- Miller, K. M., and Withler R. E. 1998. The salmonid class I MHC: limited diversity in a primitive teleost. Immunological Reviews 166:279-293.
- Mironov, O. G. 1969. The development of some Black Sea fishes in seawater polluted by petroleum products. Probl. Ichthyol. 9(6):1136-1139.
- Moles, A., M. M. Babcock and S. D. Rice. 1987. Effects of oil exposure on pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*) alevins in a simulated intertidal environment. Marine Environment Research 21:49-58.
- Moran, P., J. I. Izquierdo, A. M. Pendas, and E. Garciavazquez. 1997. Fluctuating asymmetry and isozyme variation in Atlantic salmon: Relation to age of wild and hatchery fish. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 126:194-199.
- Morizot, D. C., S. A. Slaugenhaupt, K. D. Kallman, and A. Chakravarti. 1991. Genetic linkage map of fishes of the genus *Xiphophorus* (Teleostei, Poeciliidae). Genetics 127:399-410.
- Mousseau, T. A., K. Ritland, and D. D. Heath. 1998. A novel method for estimating heritability using molecular markers. Heredity 80:218-224.
- Naruse, K. and 19 additional authors. 2000. A detailed map of Medaka, *Oryzias latipes*: Comparative genomics and genome evolution. Genetics 154: 1773-1784.
- Nelson, D.L., S.A. Ledbetter, L. Corbo, M.F. Victoria, R. Ramirez-Solis, T.D. Webster, D.H. Ledbetter, and C.T. Caskey. 1989. Alu polymerase chain reaction: A method for rapid isolation of human-specific sequences from complex DNA sources. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 86:6686-6690.
- O'Brien, S. J., J. E. Womack, L. A. Lyons, K. J. Moore, N. A. Jenkins, and N. G. Copeland. 1993. Anchored reference loci for comparative genome mapping in mammals. Nature Genetics 3:103-112.
- Pamilo, P., and S. Pálsson. 1998. Associative overdominance, heterozygosity and fitness. Heredity 81:381-389.
- Phillips, R. B., and A. R. Kapuscinksi. 1988. High frequency of translocation heterozygotes in odd-year populations of pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). Cytogenetics and Cell Genetics 48:178-182.
- Phillips, R. B., M. P. Matsuoka, W. W. Smoker, and A. J. Gharrett. 1999. Inheritance of a chromosomal polymorphism in odd-year pink salmon from southeastern Alaska. Genome. 42:816-820.
- Pogson, G. H., K. A. Mesa, and R. G. Boutilier. 1995. Genetic population structure and gene flow in the Atlantic cod *Gadus morhua*: A comparison of allozyme and nuclear RFLP loci. Genetics 139:375-385.
- Postlethwait, J.H. and 14 other authors. 1994. A genetic linkage map for the zebrafish. Science 264:699-703.
- Primmer, C.R., H. Ellegren, N. Saino, and A.P. Moller. 1996. Directional evolution in germline microsatellite mutations. Nature Genetics, 13, 391-3.

Roush, W. 1997. A zebrafish genome project? Science 275:923.

- Roy, N. K., J. Stabile, J. E. Seeb, C. Habicht, and I. Wirgin. 1999. High frequency of K-ras mutations in pink salmon embryos experimentally exposed to Exxon Valdez oil. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 18:1521-1528.
- Sakamoto, T., R. G. Danzmann, K. Gharbi, P. Howard, A. Ozaki, S. K. Khoo, R. A.
 Woram, N. Okamoto, M. M. Ferguson, L. Holm, R. Guyomard, and B. Hoyheim.
 2000. A microsatellite linkage map of Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*)
 characterized by large sex-specific differences in recombination rates. Genetics 155: 1331-1345.
- Sakamoto, T., R. G. Danzmann, N. Okamoto, M. M. Ferguson, and P. E. Ihssen. 1999. Linkage analysis of quantitative trait loci associated with spawning time in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 173:33-43.
- Schug, M.D., T.F.C. Mackay, and C.F. Aquadro. 1997. Low mutation rates of microsatellite loci in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Nature Genetics, 15, 99-102.
- Seeb, J. E., C. Habicht, J. B. Olsen, P. Bentzen, J. B. Shaklee, and L. W. Seeb. 1998. Allozyme, mtDNA, and microsatellite variants describe structure of populations of pink and sockeye salmon in Alaska. N. Pac. Anadr. Fish. Comm. Bull. 1:300-318.
- Seeb, J.E., C. Habicht, W.B. Templin, and L.W. Seeb. 1996. Genetics of pink salmon inhabitating Prince William Sound, *Exxon Valdez* Oil Spill Restoration Project Annual Report (Restoration Projects 94320D and 95320D), Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Anchorage, Alaska.
- Shimoda, N., E. W. Knapik, J. Ziniti, C. Sim, E. Yamada, S. Kaplan, D. Jackson, F. deSauvage, H. Jacob, M. Fishman. 1999. Zebrafish genetic map with 2000 microsatellite markers. Genomics 58:219-232.
- Shum, B. P., K. Azumi, S. Zhang, S. R. Kehrer, R. L. Raison, H. W. Detrich, and P Parham. 1996. Unexpected β2-microglobulin sequence diversity in individual rainbow trout. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 2779-84.
- Slatkin, M. 1995. Hitchhiking and associative overdominance at a microsatellite locus. Mol. Biol. Evol. 12:473-480.
- Spruell, P. and G. H. Thorgaard, 1996. SINE sequences detect DNA fingerprints in salmonid fishes. Heredity 317-324.
- Spruell, P., K. L Pilgrim, B. B. Greene, C. Habicht, K. Knudsen, K. R. Lindner, J. Olsen, G. K. Sage, J. E. Seeb, and F. W. Allendorf. 1999. Inheritance of nuclear DNA markers in gynogenetic haploid pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). Journal of Heredity 90:289-296.
- Smoker, W.W., A.J. Gharrett, and M.S. Stekoll. Manuscript. Genetic variation in timing of anadromous migration within a spawning season in a population of pink salmon. Presented at Proc. Int. Symp. on Biol. Interactions of Enhanced and Wild Salmonids, Nanaimo, B.C. 1992.
- Stanley, J. G. 1983. Gene expression in haploid embryos of Atlantic salmon. J. Hered. 74:19-22.
- Unwin, M. J. 1997. Fry-to-adult survival of natural and hatchery-produced chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) from a common origin. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54:1246-1254.

- Utter, F. M., J. E. Seeb, and L. W. Seeb. 1993. Complementary uses of ecological and biochemical genetic data in identifying and conserving salmon populations. Fisheries Research 18:59-76.
- Van der Beek, S., and Van Arendonk, J.A.M. 1993. Criteria to optimize designs for detection and estimation of linkage between marker loci from segregating populations containing several families. Theor. Appl. Genet. 86:269-280.
- Wada, H., K. Naruse, A. Shimada, and A. Shima. 1995. Genetic linkage map of a fish, the Japanese medaka *Oryzias latipes*. Molec. Marine Biol. and Biotech. 4:269-274.
- Waples, R. S. 1995. Evolutionary significant units and the conservation of biological diversity under the Endangered Species Act. American Fisheries Society Symposium 17:8-27.
- Weber, J.L. and C. Wong. 1993. Mutation of human short tandem repeats. Human Molecular Genetics 2:1123-1128.
- Wierdl, M., M. Dominska, and T.D. Petes. 1997. Microsatellite instability in yeast: dependence on the length of the microsatellite. Genetics, 146, 769-79.
- Woodruff, R. C, H. Huai, and J. N. Jr. Thompson. 1996. Clusters of identical new mutations in the evolutionary landscape. Genetica 98:149-160.
- Young, W. P., P. A. Wheeler, V. H. Coryell, P. Keim, and G. H. Thorgaard. 1998. A detailed linkage map of rainbow trout produced using doubled haploids. Genetics 148:1-13.
- Zhivotovsky, L. A., K. I. Afanasiev, and G. A. Rubtzova. 1987. Selection for enzyme loci in the pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha* Walbaum). Genetika 23:1876-1883.
- Zhivotovsky, L. A., A. J. Gharrett, A. J. McGregor, M. K. Glubokovsky, and M. W. Feldman. 1994. Gene differentiation in Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* sp): Facts and models with reference to pink salmon (*Oncorhynchus gorbuscha*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 51, Suppl. 1:223-232.
- Zouros, E.W., and D. Foltz. 1986. The use of allelic isozyme variation for the study of heterosis. In: M.C. Rattazzi, J.G. Scandalios, and G.S. Whitt (eds.), Isozymes: Current Topics in Biological and Medical Research, Volume 13. Alan R. Liss, New York, New York.

OTHER REFERENCES

Personal Communications

Mark Daly, Whitehead Institute, 9 Cambridge Center, Cambridge MA 02142.

Roy Danzmann, Department of Zoology, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario N1G 2W1 Canada.

Takashi Sakamoto, Department of Fisheries, Tokyo University, Tokyo, Japan.

Number of Markers	Number ofNumberMarkersof groups		
1-5	10	23.26	
6-10	14	53.51	
11-15	9	118.50	
16-20	6	181.27	
21-25	1	189.20	
26-30	· · · 1	243.70	
31-35	2	263.05	
36-40	0	الله الله بيد بير بير بير <u>من الله الله</u>	
41-45	0		
46-50	0		
over 50	1	457.40	

Table 1. A breakdown of linkage groups based on number of markers in each group and the average size in cM.

	Number of polymorphic loci	Percent assigned to linkage group	Percent of loci codominant
AFLP	393	91	2.5
PINE	162	96	4.9
Micro	35	100	91.4
Allozymes	13	100	100
Total	603		

Table 2. Summary of polymorphic loci detected by four different techniques.

	······································	Informative		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	γ^2
Loci	Family	Parent	N	r	1 df
sAAT3 - FH	A14	F	86	0.337	9.12
sAAT3 - sMDHB1,2	A14	F	89	0.112	53.49
sAAT4 - ^µ Str60	A104	F	21	0.238	5.76
ADA2 - PGDH	A120	М	56	0.125	31.50
ADA2 - SSA197	A103	F	42	0.024	38.10
	A120	Μ	. 18	0.111	10.89
CKC2 - ^µ Str60	A120	F	46	0.348	4.26
FH - MDHB1,2	A14	F	86	0.291	15.07
bGALA - G3PDH1	V2	Μ	75	0.346	7.05
GDA - PEPD2	A8	М	82	0.012	78.05
	A20	Μ	95	0.105	59.21
	A29	Μ	45	0.000	45.00
G3PDH1 - PEPLT	V5	М	75	0.240	20.28
GPIB1,2 - PEPD2	V2	Μ	75	0.013	71.05
sIDHP2 - Ost1	A29	M	41	0.366	2.95
	A104	F	33	0.303	5.12
PGDH - Ssa197	A120	М	20	0.050	12.20

Table 3. Summary of linkages in normal diploid families between allozymes and microsatellites.

Table 4. Comparison of interference estimates based on half-tetrad and haploid data from nine linkage groups. The number in parenthesis corresponds to the relative amount of interference for each method. The half-tetrad interference estimates are grouped into no(0), low (1-3), moderate (4-6), high (7-9) or in some cases complete interference. The haploid data range is grouped into no (0), low (0.01-0.33), moderate (0.34-0.66), high (0.67-0.99), and complete (1.0) interference.

•	Estimated degree of							
Linkage Group	Half-tetrad	Haploid						
2	High (9)	Moderate (0.46)						
5	No (0)	Moderate (0.47)						
8	Complete	Complete (1.00)						
25	High (9)	No (0.00)						
27	Complete	High (0.67)						
33	High (8)	Complete (1.00)						
34	High (9)	Complete (1.00)						
40	High (8)	Low (0.23)						
57	?	Complete (1.00)						

	Progeny	per family										
Fam. No.	Α	В		Dam	Progeny	%Survival	Alevins		Sire	Progeny	%Survival	Alevins
1	9	3		1	12	0.84	1424		101	18	1.44	1246
2	9	6		2	15	1.14	1321		102	9	0.60	1499
3	2	1		3	3	0.77	391		103	9	1.44	624
4	7	6		4	13	1.57	828		104	7	1.17	596
5	4	2		5	6	0.80	754		105	. 9	1.13	797
6	5	2		6	7	0.85	821		106	4	0.51	778
7	0	1		7	1	0.22	450		107	6	0.83	721
8	6	9	• 	8	15	1.48	1017		108	10	1.34	746
9	4	2		9	6	1.61	374		109	7	2.40	291
10	3	6		10	9	1.97	456		110	8	1.48	539
11	0	1		11	1	0.17	597		111	8	1.14	702
12	8	3		12	11	1.21	911		112	4	0.50	805
13	2	11 .		13	13	2.07	628		113	6	1.22	490
14	4	7		14	11	0.96	1149		114	18	1.40	1287
15	2	4		15	6	0.57	1057		115	6	0.65	929
16	4	7		16	11	1.29	854		116	11	1.12	983
17	4	.1	×	17	5	0.57	877		117	12	1.31	918
18	8	5		18	13	1.65	788		118	6	0.80	747
19	3	2		19	5	0.73	687		119	14	1.25	1124
20	11	5		20	- 16	1.77	905		120	- 7	1.50	468
21	3	5	•	21	8	0.76	1058		121	9	0.77	1171
22	6	0		22	6	0.41	1465		122	5	0.37	1351
23	4	2		23	6	0.55	1096		123	8	0.97	827
24	4	3		24	7	0.95	740	-	124	5	0.50	1010

Table 5. Summary of adult progeny recovered from each family and parent, the number of alevins from each parent pooled prior to freshwater rearing, and the percentage of alevins from each parent recovered as adults. See Figure 1 for an explanation of parental cross schemes and family designations.

Table 5. (continued)

	Progeny p	er family									
Fam. No.	Α	В		Dam	Progeny	%Survival	Alevins	Sire	Progeny	%Survival	Alevins
25	6	3		25	9	0.97	925	125	9	0.97	927
26	3	5		26	8	0.89	904	126	8	0.89	901
27	2	2		27	4	0.43	941	127	6	0.58	1041
28	4	3		28	. 7	0.62	1125	128	5	0.49	1025
29	2	0		29	2	0.59	341	129	7	1.07	653
30	5	0		30	5	1.29	388	130	0	0.00	75
31	. 1	6		31	· 7	0.93	753	131	2	0.28	706
32	1	4		32	5	0.49	1017	132	10	0.94	1064
33	1	1		33	2	0.86	231	133	4	1.14	352
34	3	1	. •	34	4	0.71	567	134	2	0.45	447
Total	25	59			259		27841		259		27841
Avg.	3.	81			7.62	0.93	819		7.62	0.93	819

Figure 1. Genetic linkage map of pink salmon based on the inheritance of 602 polymorphic loci. Numbers to the left indicate recombination rates (cM). Locus names are to the right. Centromeres are indicated by black rectangles.



|g|





I

ACC/CTC435



Figure 2. Comparison of gene-centromere distances (y) for odd and even year pink salmon. The gray line indicates the expectation if y values are equivalent in both years.

Figure 3. Diagram of our half-sib family experimental design. Numbers across the top represent females, numbers down the side represent males. The squares contain the family designation and the numbers of individuals used to make each family. The number of the dam is the family number in each half-sibling cross. The letter A or B for each family designates the sire. The parents of family 5A are dam 5 and sire 105, 5B are dam 5 and sire 106, 6A dam 6 and sire 105, and 6B are dam 6 and sire 106, and so forth.



Figure 4. Map of Resurrection Bay. Numbers indicate the location where experimental fish were collected in 2001 as designated below. LC designates Likes Creek, the location where the parents were collected.



Map Number	Location	Number of fish collected
1	Boat Harbor	2
2	Culvert	31
3	Lowell Cr.	26
4	ASLC	182
5	Spring Cr.	4
6	Resurrection R.	10
	Unknown	4
	Total	259

Figure 5. Scatterplot of the number of progeny returning for sires (a) and dams (b). For example, there were two sires that produced 10 returning progeny. The line is the expected Poisson distribution.

(a)







A. Pilgrim, K. 1999. Identification of the sex-determining locus in pink salmon. M.A., Organismal Biology and Ecology, University of Montana.